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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

          3  much, good afternoon.  My name is Council Member

          4  Jose Serrano.  I am the Chair of this Committee, and

          5  I would like to thank everyone here for joining us

          6  in this Committee on Cultural Affairs, Libraries and

          7  International Intergroup Relations.  The subject of

          8  today's hearing will be for resolutions and one

          9  introduction, Resolutions No. 438, 256, 133- A, and

         10  216, as well as hearing testimony on Intro. No. 52.

         11  We have a rather long agenda, so I will be brief in

         12  my comments.

         13                 Today, we will hear from the prime

         14  sponsors of the resolutions.  I thank all who have

         15  sacrificed their time to be here, so let us quickly

         16  begin.

         17                 The first resolution that we will be

         18  dealing with is Resolution No. 438, which is

         19  sponsored by Council Member Eric Dilan, who

         20  unfortunately, could not be here at this moment.  He

         21  was taken away on a pressing matter.  But this

         22  resolution is supporting Reverend David Benke.

         23                 Before I begin with that vote, I

         24  would like to introduce the members of the Committee

         25  who are here.  To my right, Council Member Reverend

                                                            4

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  Ruben Diaz, Council Member David Weprin, and Council

          3  Member James Davis.  Also joining us here, to my

          4  left, Council Member John Liu, Council Member

          5  Gallagher, and Council Member Jim Oddo.

          6                 And before I begin with these, I

          7  would like to allow a member of the Committee, James

          8  Davis, to say a couple of remarks.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Thank you,

         10  Chairman Serrano. I pressed my way here today from

         11  the great Borough of Brooklyn where I am the

         12  Councilman in the 35th Councilmanic District, Crown

         13  Heights, Prospect Heights, Clinton Hill, Fort Green,

         14  representing a wide, diverse constituency.  And I

         15  really wanted to participate in all four of these

         16  resolutions today.  But due to issues, in not only

         17  my district, but also various concerns, I may not be

         18  able to make it and participate in all four of these

         19  resolutions.

         20                 So I am going to try to stay around

         21  as long as possible, so that I could have a vote in

         22  all four of these resolutions.  But if I cannot make

         23  it, I am sure my colleagues who are very much

         24  capable, responsible, and considerate of the Entire

         25  City of New York will vote their conscience and the
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          2  consciousness of the City of New York.  So I am

          3  going to try hang, stay around as long as possible,

          4  and we will see what takes place.

          5                 So I thank you, Chairman Serrano,

          6  that if I cannot participate in all votes, that you

          7  will be understanding to the needs of my district,

          8  and I thank you for your consideration.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you,

         10  Council member.  I also, I apologize, we are also

         11  joined by Council Member Charles Barron, right

         12  behind me, and Simcha Felder, to my left, I

         13  apologize.  Council Member Philip Reed is also

         14  joining us, thank you, a member of this Committee.

         15                 So Resolution No. 438, again, as I

         16  mentioned before, unfortunately, Council Member

         17  Dilan, who is the sponsor of this resolution cannot

         18  be here.  This resolution is in support of Reverend

         19  David Benke, who had recently been suspended from

         20  his denomination's clergy roster for participating

         21  in the patriotic civic event at Yankee Stadium on

         22  September 23rd, 2001.  And I would like to move for

         23  a vote on Resolution No. 438, which will be a voice

         24  vote.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Those in favor for
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          2  Resolution No. 438, please say aye.

          3                 Those opposed say nay.

          4                 The item is adopted by the Council.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  We will move

          6  along now to Resolution No. 256, this was sponsored

          7  by Council Member John Liu. It is a resolution

          8  urging President Bush and Congress to support HR 491

          9  and S.1042.

         10                 At this moment, I would like to turn

         11  the mic over to Council Member Liu to allow him to

         12  say a few words about his resolution.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chairman, and I will be as brief as possible

         15  discussing this very important resolution before

         16  your Committee today.

         17                 I just want to ask the Committee and

         18  fellow Council members and all who are here today to

         19  imagine yourselves being called upon by the United

         20  States Government to serve as soldiers protecting

         21  the United States interests.  And to do so willingly

         22  and ably, and in many cases suffering fatalities and

         23  casualties, and immediately after the war ending, to

         24  have the United States Government declare that you

         25  are no longer members of the Armed Forces of the
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          2  United States.  And in fact, we will not recognize

          3  you as having served as such, and therefore, you are

          4  not entitled to any benefits whatsoever as veterans

          5  of the United States Armed Forces, just imagine that

          6  happening to you.

          7                 And unfortunately, this happened to

          8  140,000 Filipino soldiers who fought for the United

          9  States during World War II and defended the

         10  Philippine Islands.  And there are roughly 14,000 of

         11  these veterans still remaining today, most of them

         12  in their eighties and nineties, who are still

         13  fighting for the recognition and the respect from

         14  the federal government who had called upon them to

         15  render service, and subsequently, had denied them

         16  their recognition.

         17                 So I want to urge my colleagues in

         18  the City Council to, today, pass Resolution No. 256,

         19  which will restore some measure of dignity to these

         20  men who have fought so valiantly for this country.

         21  And to pass 256 and to show the United States

         22  Congress and our President that, at least, the New

         23  York City Council has not forgotten this very

         24  important service and important chapter in the lives

         25  of these people.  And also, to recognize this as a
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          2  very substantial contribution that Asian Americans

          3  have made to the United States history.

          4                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you,

          6  Council Member Liu. At this point, I would like to

          7  move in the Committee for a vote on Resolution No.

          8  256.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Those in favor say

         10  aye.

         11                 Those opposed say nay.

         12                 The item is approved.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  The next

         14  resolution that we will be dealing with is

         15  Resolution No. 183- A by Council Member Margarita

         16  Lopez.  Unfortunately, she could not be with us at

         17  this hearing.  But I will briefly explain the

         18  resolution.  It is a resolution calling upon the US

         19  Navy to vacate its training facility on the Puerto

         20  Rican Island of Vieques, and to cease and desist

         21  from violating the civil rights of Puerto Rican

         22  people to peaceful assembly on the Island of

         23  Vieques.

         24                 This is an issue that Council Member

         25  Lopez has championed for many, many years.  And
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          2  those who know her, understand her passion and the

          3  passion of all of us of Puerto Rican descent and

          4  many throughout this City and throughout the world

          5  on this issue.

          6                 And I am also a sponsor of this, and

          7  since she is not here to mention, to testify on her

          8  own behalf, I would like to move for a vote on

          9  Resolution No. 183- A.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Those in favor?

         11                 Those opposed?

         12                 The item is adopted.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  The next

         14  resolution we will be dealing with is Resolution No.

         15  216, brought to us by Council Member Charles Barron,

         16  calling for an evenhanded policy in the Middle East.

         17

         18                 Council Member Barron is here, and I

         19  would like to turn the microphone over to him, to

         20  allow him to speak on his resolution.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you

         22  very much, Mr. Chair.  I just want to commend you

         23  for your tough job that you had to do around this

         24  particular resolution and the other resolution that

         25  went forth on the Middle East.
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          2                 I thought about several ways of

          3  dealing with this, I said, maybe I will just talk

          4  for 10 hours, so that they will never get a chance

          5  to vote.  It is almost predictable on how the vote

          6  is going to be, especially since my resolution was

          7  separated from the pack, so that they could pass the

          8  other pro- Israel resolutions.

          9                 But for the life of me, I could not

         10  figure out what is it about a resolution that calls

         11  for no more killing of innocent Palestinians and no

         12  more killing of innocent Israeli citizens, a state

         13  for Palestine, and a state for Israel and protected

         14  and secure borders, and an end to the military war,

         15  and the launching of a negotiated settlement, who

         16  could be against that?  For the life of me, you

         17  know, I was thinking what could be in my colleagues'

         18  minds that would make them go against a resolution

         19  that called for that?

         20                 And then it dawned upon me that they,

         21  there is a lot of pressure in New York City when you

         22  want to say, you want to see a Palestinian not

         23  killed, an evenhanded policy.  So some of my

         24  colleagues were petitioned by powers that be, and

         25  they used the word evenhanded as an excused, so they
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          2  took out the word evenhanded, and said that is

          3  equating suicide bombing with the military strikes

          4  of Israel.  Never mentioned in my resolution, and no

          5  matter how they try to make that a part of my

          6  resolution, it was never, ever a part of my

          7  resolution.

          8                 Then I thought perhaps it was the

          9  trip to Israel, where they showed some of the

         10  pictures like are being shown today, and they showed

         11  the destruction of Israeli life, but did not even

         12  spend time looking at the destruction of Palestinian

         13  life, or going to speak to Palestinian people, I

         14  said, perhaps that is it.  Or perhaps it is straight

         15  up politics, straight up politics, people are under

         16  pressure because maybe they have political ambitions

         17  in the future that will not allow them to vote for a

         18  resolution no matter how fair it is, they have to

         19  take a certain position because of politics.

         20                 Well, I am almost certain that I know

         21  how the vote is going to go today, but to the

         22  Palestinian people around the world, at least, we

         23  had a day to make the case.  And even if we do not

         24  get a vote here today for this particular resolution

         25  because politics will not allow my colleagues to be
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          2  morally courageous, then so be it.  But we had a

          3  hearing, and I just still believe that there is a

          4  God above, and there is going to be a just

          5  resolution to this Middle East conflict, and it is

          6  going to be beneficial for both the Palestinian

          7  people and the Israel people.

          8                 And I want to particularly say thanks

          9  to Council Member Phil Reed for supporting this

         10  resolution and for seeing the resolution for what it

         11  is, a resolution calling for peace, a resolution

         12  calling for fairness, a resolution calling for

         13  justice and balance.

         14                 I thank you, Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you very

         16  much, Council Member Barron.  Before I call for

         17  vote, okay, we will call for a vote.  I would like

         18  to now have the vote called for Resolution No. 216.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Resolution No. 216,

         20  those in favor.

         21                 Those opposed?

         22                 The item is defeated by the

         23  Committee.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you very

         25  much.  We now move towards Intro. No. 52 by Council

                                                            13

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  Member Oddo.  It is a local law to amend the

          3  Administrative Code of the City of New York in

          4  relation to the displaying of the POW/MIA flag.  I

          5  would like to turn it over to Council Member Oddo to

          6  say some words on this.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chairman, and I would like to begin by particularly

          9  thanking you for allowing this hearing today.  This

         10  hearing is actually the culmination of almost a

         11  three- year long battle to get a hearing on what I,

         12  and many of our colleagues, believe is a relatively

         13  simple bill, but an important one.  This bill

         14  actually predates my tenure as a Council member and

         15  it goes to my time as a staff person along with

         16  Dennis Gallagher when we worked for, then Minority

         17  Leader Tom Ognibene, then Council Member John Fusco,

         18  and then Council Member Al Stabile. Al Stabile was

         19  actually the prime sponsor, the original prime

         20  sponsor of this bill, which we thought was

         21  appropriate considering he was a Vietnam Vet.

         22                 I particularly thank you because

         23  today actually is National POW/MIA Recognition Day

         24  across the country.  And the reason why we ask for

         25  this hearing now, because we collectively believe,
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          2  if there ever is a climate across the City of New

          3  York to pass this bill, considering everything that

          4  has happened to this City over the last year, the

          5  time is now to do it.

          6                 Again, we see this as a very simple

          7  bill, to fly the POW/MIA flag on flag poles and yard

          8  arms belonging to the Parks Department.  Each day

          9  that passes, we lose a group of veterans, and when

         10  we lose them, we lose the stories of their pain and

         11  their sacrifice and their loss.  And what we are

         12  trying to do with this bill is give them a lasting

         13  memorial, but also reach subsequent generations so

         14  that they understand that the freedom and the life

         15  style that they enjoy came at a price.  So this bill

         16  is as much for future generations as it is for Joe

         17  Calabria, a Korean War Veteran.              I am

         18  not quite sure of the Administration on this bill, I

         19  can only go by comments made in today's New York

         20  Post.  But if the concern is about the cost of this

         21  bill, we will be reaching out to flag manufacturers

         22  across the City and across the country. And I have

         23  to think that somebody is willing to donate these

         24  flags. This is a no- brainer.  This is about

         25  demonstrating respect, this is about matching our
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          2  actions with the all too familiar rhetoric that has

          3  occurred in this City during the last year.

          4                 Council Member Marty Golden is

          5  actually the prime sponsor of the bill.  He could

          6  not be with us, he has testimony that I would like

          7  to submit as part of the record.

          8                 And I will just close by saying to my

          9  colleagues on the Committee, talk to veterans in

         10  your community, ask them about what they think about

         11  the POW/MIA flag, what it means to them, and then

         12  think about what we are trying to do today.

         13                 And again, Mr. Chairman, I really

         14  want to thank you for your indulgence in giving us a

         15  hearing that we were not able to get for a very long

         16  time.  And we have a few veterans from Staten Island

         17  that we asked to testify today, and I ask that you

         18  give them your consideration.  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you,

         20  Council Member Oddo.  We are going to have some

         21  testimony on this issue, and I am going to call up a

         22  panel of all four together, Marc Carubello (sic),

         23  Carusello, I am sorry, Joseph Calabria, Jordan

         24  Czerniawski, and Pat Toro.  Okay, yes, any order

         25  that you wish.  You may begin.
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          2                 MR. CALABRIA:  Mr. Chairman, members

          3  of the City Council, my name is Joe Calabria.  I am

          4  the President of the Korean War Veterans in Staten

          5  Island.  I have been requested to come here today to

          6  talk about the MIA/POW flag.  Remember freedom is

          7  not free.  There were 8,000 MIAs in Korea, we cannot

          8  let these people just disappear.  They must be

          9  remembered to some degree.

         10                 By having the flag fly at the Parks

         11  Department or wherever, and I expect to have a bill

         12  also put in to be flown at the schools.  I will give

         13  you an example, we have a school on Staten Island

         14  named after the fellow that our Chapter has been

         15  named after.  This was a young man who was killed,

         16  who was murdered in a Korean POW Camp, he was 17-

         17  years- old, his name was Alan F. Kevlahan

         18  (phonetic).  The MIA flag flies at that school at

         19  our request.  I spoke to the school superintendent

         20  and asked him if it would be okay, and he said, yes.

         21    So, we fly that flag at that school.

         22                 This is a learning process for

         23  everyone who wants to know what that flag is about.

         24  And when they look at it, and when it is explained

         25  to them, they will surely understand what the
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          2  symbolism is of this flag.

          3                 So I humbly request that you pass

          4  this bill. Remember, ladies and gentlemen, if you

          5  like your freedom, thank a Vet.  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you very

          7  much.  Before we move onto the next person, I would

          8  like to mention that the Committee is joined by

          9  Council Member Helen Sears, Council Member Alan

         10  Jennings, who is a member of this Committee, thank

         11  you.  And Council Member Michael Nelson, who is

         12  behind me.  Thank you, you may proceed, Sir.

         13                 MR. TORO:  Mr. Chairman, Council

         14  members, my name is Pat Toro.  I am President of the

         15  Vietnam Veterans of America, Queens Chapter 32.

         16                 I was asked to testify here on

         17  something that is very important to me, and that is

         18  the flying of the POW/MIA flag. In this day of

         19  events, especially after September 11th when

         20  patriotism is trying to reach an all time high, I

         21  think we should also remember those who did not come

         22  back, not just the dead, but the ones who were POW

         23  or MIA.

         24                 And it annoys me when I ride around

         25  and I see the American flag flying high over the
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          2  schools or the parks, but I see no POW/MIA flag.

          3  Anybody who knows the history knows that the POW/MIA

          4  flag is the only other flag other than the American

          5  flag to fly over the Capital, and that should count

          6  for something, especially in this day and age with

          7  everything else that is going on.

          8                 Now, us, as a Chapter, the Queens

          9  Chapter 32, have donated POW/MIA flags to certain

         10  precincts, Fire Departments, places where they have

         11  requested, especially after September 11th, and I

         12  feel that that is something that should continue,

         13  especially in the parks, and especially in the bill

         14  putting it on all City agencies, schools included.

         15                 In this day and age, again, where the

         16  wars are not being talked about hardly in any of the

         17  schools, we should have something there that the

         18  children can ask, what does that mean, what is that

         19  about.

         20                 And I hope that you will support this

         21  and you will pass it.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you.  You

         23  may begin, Sir.

         24                 MR. CZERNIAWSKI:  My name is Jordan

         25  Czerniawski.  I am First Vice President of the
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          2  Korean War Veterans, also their Chaplain, and I am

          3  just so much in favor of having that flag flying and

          4  having us reminded of the POWs and the MIAs that are

          5  still out there and still missing.  And I cannot

          6  imagine myself in their position, because it is just

          7  too hard to think about.  But I try, and it was

          8  strange that I got a call from Joseph Calabria on

          9  Monday, asking me to come down to this testimonial.

         10  And that night, a friend of mine has sent me some

         11  email on my computer, and it was so relevant that I

         12  had to bring this down with me today. And I said it

         13  must be God leading me to this direction, because it

         14  is so relevant.  So, if you do mind, I will read

         15  this to you, if you will bear with me?

         16                 And this is a prisoner of war that

         17  has been captivated and incarcerated for many, many

         18  years.  And he says:

         19                  "No, not again, my God, my God,

         20  where are they, where are my countrymen?

         21                 After all these years the depression

         22  still hits me, still knocks me against this cold

         23  bank wall.  This wall that carries the names of

         24  Americans scratched into it.

         25                 Several got to go home, some who did
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          2  not.  Do my countrymen remember me?  Do they care.

          3                 I yearn for my family.  Does my wife

          4  look at the same stars that I do, wondering if I am

          5  glancing skyward?

          6                 How did our lives change so much?

          7  Does she demand my return, or has she finally

          8  succumb to the lie?

          9                 What about my children, have they

         10  gone to bed all these years crying because Daddy is

         11  not there?

         12                 Oh, God, I cannot remember their

         13  ages, do they now have families of their own?  Am I

         14  a grandfather, do my grandchildren know of me, do

         15  they care?

         16                 My, Dad, I wonder if he is ashamed

         17  that he taught me that we live in a nation that

         18  fights for democracy, that we are lucky enough to be

         19  free, and that there are responsibilities to go

         20  along with that freedom?  Fighting, he said, so that

         21  others can taste that sweet breath, that sweet joy

         22  of freedom that we take for granted.  I wonder if he

         23  had to do it over again, would he urge me to run, to

         24  run to Canada?  Ha, freedom, what does that mean?

         25                 I answered the call, I did the right
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          2  thing.  I fought for their freedom.  What now is

          3  anyone doing about mine?  I am no ghost, I am POW

          4  and I am MIA.

          5                 My country 'tis of thee, sweet land

          6  of liberty, why have you abandoned me?

          7                 My God, how I would love to watch the

          8  sunset on the Catskills once again, or sit on a

          9  front porch just after cutting the grass, while rain

         10  fell and experience that wonderful smell. Catching

         11  the Yankees and Red Sox go at it again, and ah, but

         12  the thought of that brings a bitter sweet tear.  I

         13  miss my country and I miss my home.

         14                 What I wouldn't give to go to the

         15  sweet shop for an egg cream.  How many Presidents

         16  have been in office since I have been sentenced to

         17  this hell on earth?  The last President I remember

         18  was Mr. Nixon, when they played his statement to us,

         19  the one where he addressed my nation saying that we

         20  were either all home or all dead.  And then they

         21  laughed at us saying we can keep you forever.

         22                 Why, the war is over, I screamed, but

         23  no, no one heard me.  My mind I feel retreating to

         24  the darkest, deepest recess of my mind and will

         25  never come back.
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          2                 There has to be other Presidents by

          3  now, how many years can a man remain President, six,

          4  eight, eight years?  I do not remember anymore.  It

          5  is all I can do to hold onto my memories, my family,

          6  my children, my nationality, my being.  Don't they

          7  know, don't they care?

          8                 How could this have happened?

          9  Wouldn't someone get me and the others out of here?

         10  Where God, where are they?  Doesn't anyone realize

         11  that it could have been them?  There but for the

         12  grace of God, go I.  Remember?

         13                 I do not mean to complain, Lord.  But

         14  isn't there a way that this cup could pass over my

         15  head.  This chalice that runs over with the blood

         16  and tears of Americans still confined.  Can't you

         17  relieve me of this purgatory, this is hell.

         18                 I did my time, I want to come home.

         19  And if I cannot go home after all this time, then

         20  Lord, please just take me.

         21                 We can keep you forever they say.

         22  Don't they care? Someone, anyone, do you?"

         23                 Do you, there listening to this, do

         24  you care?  I thank you for your time.  Thank you

         25  very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you very

          3  much, Sir.  You may begin.

          4                 MR. CARUSELLO:  The Honorable Jose

          5  Serrano, fellow members of the City Council who give

          6  us the opportunity to come and speak here today, we

          7  appreciate it very much.  And I want to thank our

          8  Councilman Oddo, who is very dedicated to the

          9  service of the veterans on Staten Island, and we

         10  wish that all the Councilman were of his caliber, he

         11  is a great man.

         12                 I would like to start, I am from

         13  World War II.  I don't look my age, thank God.  The

         14  two other fellows that spoke from Staten Island are

         15  Korean Vets, I come from World War II.  I served two

         16  years in the South Pacific in 1944 and 1945.

         17                 I look at these, some of the figures

         18  I am looking at, the MIAs and POWs, World War II,

         19  World War I, believe it or not, there were 3,000,

         20  that was only a small war.  World War II was the war

         21  that was supposed to stop all wars, we have 78,000

         22  MIA/POWs.  The Korean War, we have 8,177, and the

         23  Vietnam War, we have 2,127.  And you add those

         24  figures up, they are staggering, and they should be

         25  back with their families.  And unfortunately, they
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          2  are still serving.  And they are being punished for

          3  no reason at all, the war is over, most of these

          4  wars, and they should be able to come home.

          5                 And what we want to see is that

          6  wherever there is an American flag, there be an

          7  MIA/POW flag flying with it.  If you come across the

          8  Verrazano Bridge, you will see the American flag and

          9  the MIA/POW flag right below it.  We want to make

         10  sure that that is carry all over throughout the

         11  nation, but right now, we are talking about the City

         12  of New York.  And we want to make sure, we know that

         13  the parents, the brothers, the sisters of those that

         14  are missing in action and unaccounted for I am sure

         15  that each night they go to bed, they think of their

         16  relatives, their brother, sister, whoever it may be.

         17    They should be back here with us and enjoy us.

         18                 We here at this table, we were

         19  fortunate enough, we served our time, and we came

         20  home.  I have been a member of the American Legion

         21  55 years, and I have been trying to do whatever we

         22  can.  If you look on the roads, you will see these

         23  signs, POW/MIA, we want to make sure that people

         24  remember them.  And we wish for your help to help us

         25  to carry out that mandate.  And we would like to see
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          2  the MIA/POW flag flying below the American Flag.

          3  And if we can get your consent, we appreciate it

          4  very much.

          5                 Thank you for listening.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  I would like to

          7  thank all of you, before you get up, for your very

          8  compelling testimony.  I believe that this City and

          9  this Council should always do all that it can to

         10  recognize the service and sacrifice of all of our

         11  veterans, and especially our brothers and sisters

         12  who have not yet returned, we must continue to hold

         13  vigil and remember their sacrifice and their service

         14  always.  So again, I thank you.  I thank you,

         15  Council Member James Oddo for bringing this to the

         16  Council and to this Committee.  And I thank you for

         17  your testimony.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  If I may just

         19  say one other thing, Mr. Chairman, well, two quick

         20  points?  One is, the gentlemen at the table talked

         21  about, the POW/MIA at all locations.  I just want to

         22  say to the members of the Committee, explain to them

         23  why we chose park locations.  We wanted a location

         24  where lots of people, obviously, will see it, and

         25  particularly young people.  And what we envision is
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          2  a Mom or Dad playing ball with their son or

          3  daughter, and the young person looking up at the

          4  flag and questioning what is the white and black

          5  flag underneath the red, white and blue flag. I

          6  mean, we really did, in crafting this bill, envision

          7  it for these gentlemen and the gentlemen that they

          8  spoke of, but also for future generations.

          9                 And also, there is a heated,

         10  spirited, and appropriate debate in this City about

         11  what the memorial at Ground Zero should look like,

         12  because we want to make sure that we never forget.

         13  We want to pay homage and respect to the victims and

         14  the heroes there.  This bill is consistent with

         15  that.  This, you know, unfortunately, as Mr.

         16  Carusello delineated, throughout our history there

         17  were men and women who went overseas to defend our

         18  freedom. And this bill is consistent with always

         19  acknowledging, paying our respect, and memorializing

         20  that sacrifice.

         21                 And again, Mr. Chairman, thank you so

         22  much.  And gentlemen, as always, it is a pleasure to

         23  serve you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Council Member

         25  Mike Nelson.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Thank you.  I

          3  also want to welcome you to the Council.  I often

          4  feel that we would not be here in this Council, if

          5  you will, and freedom, of course, if it was not for

          6  men and women like yourselves.  I want to

          7  congratulate, Jimmy Oddo, for always being on top of

          8  this.  Chairman Serrano for being strongly

          9  supportive of our cause with this, as well.

         10                 I am a Vietnam Vet, myself, I lost

         11  friends, some close, some not so close, and I cannot

         12  but wonder if any of them are alive somewhere

         13  suffering this, I think your expression was, this

         14  hell on earth, but we do not know.  I hope not, it

         15  is doubtful, perhaps, but we do not know, and that

         16  is, of course, the point.  And I am here, and I feel

         17  they would be doing the same for me.  And I am sure

         18  you are doing it for much the same reason.

         19                 I thank you for being in these

         20  Chambers with us.

         21                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you.

         23  Council Member Helen Sears.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you very

         25  much, Council Member Serrano, I appreciate the
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          2  moment.  And I do have to publicly thank Councilman

          3  Oddo, because he has been in the forefront of this

          4  issue.

          5                 I want to thank all of you for being

          6  here.  And you know my father- in- law was a Colonel

          7  in the Army.  My brother- in- law was in the Ceebees

          8  (phonetic), and my husband was in the Navy.  And I

          9  had an Uncle, who also served, who is missing in

         10  action.  And my grandmother never had any peace,

         11  because it was as if he was forgotten.  She never

         12  had peace that he was ever found.  And it seems if

         13  this country, in all that we do for the rest of the

         14  world, in all that we have holidays celebrating the

         15  independence of other countries by the different

         16  ethnic groups that are in this country, it behooves

         17  me, it behooves us to not even have to push so far

         18  to remember those who are still somewhere on some

         19  land.  And it is really wonderful that you are doing

         20  this.

         21                 And I urge the Committee to take it

         22  out of Committee, and I appreciate the time to be

         23  here, and will certainly push for the City Council

         24  to vote this out.  It is something that is right, it

         25  is something we should do, and it should have no
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          2  time table, it should have no cost, we should just

          3  do it.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you very

          6  much, Council member.  Council Member Gallagher.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chairman. While I am not a member of this

          9  Committee, I certainly appreciate your affording me

         10  the opportunity to speak on this.

         11                 I am a prime sponsor on this bill,

         12  and I am very proud to be a prime sponsor of this

         13  bill, with my colleague, Council Member Oddo, one of

         14  the introducers.

         15                 This is really a bill that is long

         16  past due, and I urge my colleagues on the Committee

         17  and my colleagues in the Council to pass this bill

         18  out of Committee and to move it forward. As my

         19  colleague, Council Member Sears stated, there is not

         20  much of a financial impact on this, and if there

         21  was, who cares?  This is something that we must do,

         22  we owe it to all those whose memories are lost and

         23  all their family members.

         24                 You know I come from a family that

         25  has many military in its background, including
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          2  losing two uncles in war.  And I know the reaction

          3  that my family had, and we should move this bill

          4  forward as soon as possible.  And these POW/MIA

          5  flags should fly all over the City, and I believe

          6  that this should be a first step, and it should be

          7  of other government buildings throughout the City,

          8  as well.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you,

         11  Council member. Council Member John Liu.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chair.  I want to thank these gentlemen for taking

         14  the time out today to come down to City Hall to

         15  testify on this very important resolution, on this

         16  very important bill.

         17                 And I would urge the Committee to

         18  pass this as soon as possible so that we can vote on

         19  it affirmatively in the full City Council.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you very

         22  much.  Again, I would like to thank you all for - -

         23  Yes?

         24                 MR. CZERNIAWSKI:  Is this on?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Would you like
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          2  to say something else?

          3                 MR. TORO:  Yes, I just want to add,

          4  as someone mentioned before, I think it was

          5  Councilman Oddo mentioned, today is the 20th, it is

          6  POW/MIA Recognition Day throughout the country. The

          7  Vietnam Veterans of American in Queens will be

          8  having our ceremony tonight.  And on behalf of this

          9  bill and everything that has been said on it, you

         10  should think about the 39 POW/MIAs whose names will

         11  be called out tonight at our ceremony, who will have

         12  a candle lit on their behalf, who are missing in

         13  action or POW from New York City.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO:  Thank you.

         15  Thank you Council Member Oddo.  I would like to,

         16  before we wrap up, thank the Committee staff,

         17  Deirdre Feerick, to my left.  Rick Arbelo, Caroline

         18  Kretz, Eldin Villafane, and Howard Pollack for all

         19  their hard work in putting this hearing together.

         20                 And this was the first hearing, as we

         21  all know where we get the testimony in, and I would

         22  like to thank you for that. And we will be hearing

         23  more about this in the very near future.

         24                 Thank you.  The meeting is adjourned.

         25                 (Hearing concluded at 2:18 p.m.)
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